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For Antonia











If the lands of the white man are taken, civilization justifies him in resisting the invader. Civilization does more than this: it brands him a coward and a slave if he submits to the wrong. If the savage resists, civilization, with the Ten Commandments in one hand and the sword in the other, demands his immediate extermination.


— Report of the Indian Peace Commissioners, 18681


I remember that the white men were coming to fight us and take away our land, and I thought it was not right. We are humans too and God created us all alike, and I was going to do the best I could to defend my nation. So I started on the warpath when I was sixteen years old.


— FIRE THUNDER, CHEYENNE WARRIOR2


We have heard much talk of the treachery of the Indian. In treachery, broken pledges on the part of high officials, lies, thievery, slaughter of defenseless women and children, and every crime in the catalogue of man’s inhumanity to man the Indian was a mere amateur compared to the “noble white man.”


— LIEUTENANT BRITTON DAVIS, U.S. ARMY3
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OUR CHILDREN SOMETIMES BEHAVE BADLY


PATRONS OF P. T. BARNUM’S American Museum in April 1863 were in for a treat. For twenty-five cents, they could gaze upon eleven Plains Indian chiefs just arrived in New York City from a visit to the “Great Father” President Abraham Lincoln. These were not the “random beggars or drunken red men from Eastern reservations” that Barnum normally presented to the public, The New York Times assured readers. They were Cheyennes, Arapahos, Kiowas, and Comanches— “roamers of the remotest valleys of the Rocky Mountains.” Barnum promised three dramatic performances daily, but the engagement was strictly limited. “Come now, or you’re too late,” trumpeted the great showman. “They are longing for their green fields and wild forest homes, and must be seen now or not at all.”1


Barnum teased New Yorkers with extravagant previews. He rode through the streets of Manhattan with the Indians in an oversized carriage preceded by a marching band. The great showman and the chiefs made stops at schools, where children performed calisthenics and sang songs for them. Newspapers responded with amused derision, but the Indians captivated the public. Crowds flocked to the four-tier theater of Barnum’s Broadway Street gallery to see staged “pow-wows.” The Indians said little, but their painted faces, long braids, buckskin scalp shirts, and scalp-trimmed leggings delighted show goers. At the final curtain call on April 18, Chief Lean Bear of the Southern Cheyennes bade New Yorkers farewell on behalf of the delegation.2
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Chief Lean Bear was a member of the Council of Forty-Four, the governing body of the Cheyenne people. Council chiefs were peacemakers, enjoined by tribal custom never to permit passion to displace reason and to always act on behalf of the tribe’s best interests, which in 1863 most elder Cheyenne chiefs construed as friendly relations with the mushrooming white population in the Territory of Colorado that crowded their already diminished hunting lands. But official Washington was troubled. Confederate agents were rumored to be circulating among the Plains Indians, trying to incite them to war. To counter the threat (which was in fact baseless) and smooth over differences with the tribes, the Indian Bureau had arranged for Lean Bear and ten other chiefs to visit the Great Father. The Indian agent Samuel G. Colley and their white interpreter accompanied them.


On the morning of March 26, 1863, two weeks before the opening of their New York extravaganza, the Indians, their agent, and their interpreter had filed into the East Room of the White House through a murmuring throng of cabinet secretaries, foreign diplomats, and distinguished curiosity seekers. “Maintaining that dignity or stolidity characteristic of the stoics of the woods,” a Washington journalist told his readers, “they quietly seated themselves on the carpet in a semicircle, and with an air of recognition to the destiny of greatness to be gazed at, seemed quite satisfied with the brilliancy of their own adornings and colorings.”3


After a fifteen-minute wait, President Lincoln strode into the room and asked the chiefs if they had anything to say. Lean Bear arose. As the crowd of dignitaries pressed closer, Lean Bear momentarily lost his composure. The chief stammered that he had much to say but was so nervous that he needed a chair. Two chairs were brought, and Lincoln sat down opposite the chief. Cradling his long-stem pipe, Lean Bear spoke, hesitantly at first, but with a growing eloquence. He told Lincoln that his invitation had traveled a long way to reach them and the chiefs had traveled far to hear his counsel. He had no pockets in which to hide the Great Father’s words but would treasure them in his heart and faithfully carry them back to his people.


Lean Bear addressed Lincoln as an equal. The president, he said, lived in splendor with a finer lodge, yet he, Lean Bear, was like the president, a great chief at home. The Great Father must counsel his white children to abstain from acts of violence so that both Indians and whites might travel safely across the plains. Lean Bear deplored  the white man’s war then raging in the East and prayed for its end. He closed with a reminder to Lincoln that as chiefs of their peoples he and the other Indian leaders must return home, and Lean Bear asked the president to expedite their departure.4


Then Lincoln spoke. He began with good-humored but marked condescension, telling the chiefs of wonders beyond their imagination, of “pale-faced people” in the room who had come from distant countries, of the earth being a “great, round ball teeming with whites.” He called for a globe and had a professor show them the ocean and the continents, the many countries populated with whites, and finally the broad swath of beige representing the Great Plains of the United States.


The geography lesson over, Lincoln turned somber. “You have asked for my advice . . . I can only say that I can see no way in which your race is to become as numerous and prosperous as the white race excepting living as they do, by the cultivation of the earth. It is the object of this government,” continued Lincoln, “to be on terms of peace with you and with all our red brethren . . . and if our children should sometimes behave badly and violate treaties, it is against our wish. You know,” he added, “it is not always possible for any father to have his children do precisely as he wishes them to do.” Lincoln said an officer called the commissioner of Indian affairs would see to their early return west. The chiefs were given bronzed-copper peace medals and papers signed by Lincoln attesting to their friendship with the government, after which Lean Bear thanked the president and the council concluded.5


The chiefs’ stay in Washington did not end with the White House meeting, however. As if the journey east had not sufficed to demonstrate the power of the white people, for ten days the commissioner of Indian affairs insisted on shuffling the delegation from one government building and army fortification to another. Then Agent Colley accepted P. T. Barnum’s invitation to New York. By the time the Indians boarded a train for Denver on April 30, 1863, they had been in the white cities nearly a month.6
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President Lincoln’s peace pledge rang hollow in the Territory of Colorado, where Governor John Evans’s idea of interracial amity was to confine the Cheyennes on a small and arid reservation. Although they had signed a treaty three years earlier agreeing to accept reservation life,  Lean Bear and the other peace chiefs were powerless to compel their people to relinquish their freedom. Cheyenne hunting parties ranged over eastern Colorado and the unsettled western Kansas plains as they had always done. They harmed no whites; indeed, the Cheyennes considered themselves at peace with their white neighbors, but Coloradans nonetheless found their presence intolerable. Governor Evans and the military district commander, Colonel John Chivington, who had political ambitions of his own in Colorado, took dubious reports of cattle theft by hungry Cheyennes as an excuse to declare war on the tribe. In early April 1864, Chivington ordered cavalry to fan out into western Kansas and to kill Cheyennes “whenever and wherever found.”


Lean Bear and his fellow peace chief Black Kettle had passed the winter and early spring quietly near Fort Larned, Kansas, where they traded buffalo robes. Now tribal runners brought word of the imminent danger. Recalling their hunting parties, Lean Bear and Black Kettle started their people northward to find protection in numbers among Cheyenne bands gathering on the Smoky Hill River. But the army found them first.


On the night of May 15, 1864, Lean Bear and Black Kettle camped on a muddy, cottonwood-fringed stream three miles short of the Smoky Hill. At dawn, hunting parties fanned out onto the open plain in search of buffalo. Before long, they were back, pounding their ponies to the lodge of the camp crier. They had spotted four columns of mounted soldiers on the horizon, and the troops had cannon. As the crier awakened the village, Lean Bear rode forward with a small escort to meet the soldiers. His medal from President Lincoln rested on his breast in plain view, and in his hand he carried the peace papers from Washington. From atop a low rise, Lean Bear saw the troopers at the same time they saw him. Their commander ordered his eighty-four men and two mountain howitzers into a battle line. Behind Lean Bear, four hundred warriors from the village assembled warily.7


Lean Bear rode forward, and a sergeant cantered toward him. All must have seemed well to the chief. After all, he and the Great Father had pledged mutual peace. Dignitaries from around the globe had greeted him at the White House. Army officers in the forts around Washington had been gracious and respectful. The people of New York City had honored him. He had his medal and peace papers to prove that he was the white man’s friend. But the Great Plains was a world unto itself.




Lean Bear was just thirty feet from the soldiers when they opened fire. The chief was dead before he hit the ground. After the smoke cleared, several troops broke ranks and pumped more bullets into his corpse. As Lincoln had cautioned Lean Bear, his children sometimes behaved badly.8
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A newspaperman once asked George Crook, one of the preeminent generals in the West, how he felt about his job. It was a hard thing, he replied, to be forced to do battle with Indians who more often than not were in the right. “I do not wonder, and you will not either, that when Indians see their wives and children starving and their last source of supplies cut off, they go to war. And then we are sent out there to kill them. It is an outrage. All tribes tell the same story. They are surrounded on all sides, the game is destroyed or driven away, they are left to starve, and there remains but one thing for them to do—fight while they can. Our treatment of the Indian is an outrage.”9


That a general would offer such a candid and forceful public defense of the Indians seems implausible because it contradicts an enduring myth: that the regular army was the implacable foe of the Indian.


No epoch in American history, in fact, is more deeply steeped in myth than the era of the Indian Wars of the American West. For 125 years, much of both popular and academic history, film, and fiction has depicted the period as an absolute struggle between good and evil, reversing the roles of heroes and villains as necessary to accommodate a changing national conscience.


In the first eighty years following the tragedy at Wounded Knee, which marked the end of Indian resistance, the nation romanticized Indian fighters and white settlers and vilified or trivialized the Indians who resisted them. The army appeared as the shining knights of an enlightened government dedicated to conquering the wilderness and to “civilizing” the West and its Native American inhabitants.


In 1970, the story reversed itself, and the pendulum swung to the opposite extreme. Americans were developing an acute sense of the countless wrongs done the Indians. Dee Brown’s elegantly written and passionately wrought Bury My Heart at Wounded Knee and, later that same year, the film Little Big Man shaped a new saga that articulated the nation’s feelings of guilt. In the public mind, the government and  the army of the latter decades of the nineteenth century became seen as willful exterminators of the Native peoples of the West. (In fact, the government’s response to what was commonly called the “Indian problem” was inconsistent, and although massacres occurred and treaties were broken, the federal government never contemplated genocide. That the Indian way of life must be eradicated if the Indian were to survive, however, was taken for granted.)


Bury My Heart at Wounded Knee still deeply influences the way Americans perceive the Indian Wars and has remained the standard popular work on the era. It is at once ironic and unique that so crucial a period of our history remains largely defined by a work that made no attempt at historical balance. Dee Brown gave as the stated purpose of his book the presentation of “the conquest of the American West as the victims experienced it,” hence the book’s subtitle, An Indian History of the American West. Brown’s definition of victims was severely circumscribed. Several tribes, most notably the Shoshones, Crows, and Pawnees, cast their fate with the whites. Bury My Heart at Wounded Knee dismissed these tribes as “mercenaries” with no attempt to understand them or explain their motives. These Indians, like the army and the government, became cardboard cutouts, mere foils for the “victims” in the story.


Such a one-sided approach to the study of history ultimately serves no good purpose; it is impossible to judge honestly the true injustice done the Indians, or the army’s real role in those tragic times, without a thorough and nuanced understanding of the white perspective as well as that of the Indians. What I have sought to do in this book, then, is bring historical balance to the story of the Indian Wars. I hesitate to use the word “restore” when speaking of balance, because it is the pendulum swings that have defined society’s understanding of the subject since the closing of the military frontier in 1891.


Of inestimable benefit to my work has been the wealth of Indian primary sources that have become available since the publication of Bury My Heart at Wounded Knee. They have enabled me to tell the story equally through the words of Indian and white participants and, through a deeper understanding of all parties to the conflict, better address the many myths, misconceptions, and falsehoods surrounding the Indian Wars.


A myth as enduring as that of an army inherently antagonistic toward the Indians is that of united Indian resistance to white encroachment.  No tribe famous for fighting the government was ever united for war or peace. Intense factionalism ruled, each tribe having its war and peace factions that struggled for dominance and clashed, sometimes violently, with one another. One of the most committed advocates of peaceful accommodation with the whites paid for his convictions with his life; a disgruntled member of the tribe’s war faction poisoned him.


Unanimity existed only among tribes that accepted the white invasion. Influential chiefs such as Washakie of the Shoshones saw the government as guarantors of his people’s survival against more powerful tribal enemies. The Shoshones, Crows, and Pawnees all proved invaluable army allies in war, following the adage that the enemy of my enemy is my friend.


Not only did the Indians fail to unite in opposing the westward expansion of “civilization,” but they also continued to make war on one another. There was no sense of “Indianness” until it was too late, and then it came but dimly through a millennial faith that brought only bloodshed, horror, and broken hopes.


Intertribal conflict was in part the consequence of a fact that has never been appreciated but that will become apparent as this book unfolds: that the wars between Indians and the government for the northern plains, the seat of the bloodiest and longest struggles, represented a displacement of one immigrant people by another, rather than the destruction of a deeply rooted way of life. A decade after Lean Bear’s murder, an army officer asked a Cheyenne chief why his tribe preyed on their Crow neighbors. He responded, “We stole the hunting grounds of the Crows because they were the best. We wanted more room.”10 That was a sentiment that the Coloradans determined to rid their territory of the Cheyennes could readily appreciate.
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CHAPTER 1
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THE PLAINS AFLAME


PRESIDENT LINCOLN vastly understated the case when he told Lean Bear that his white children sometimes behaved badly. In the two and a half centuries between the settlement of the Jamestown colony in Virginia and Lincoln’s cautionary words to the Cheyenne chief, a relentlessly expansionist white population had driven the Indians westward without regard to treaty obligations or, sometimes, even simple humanity. The government of the young American Republic had not intended to exterminate the Indians. Nor had the founding fathers simply coveted Indian land. They had also wanted to “enlighten and refine” the Indian, to lead him from “savagery” to Christianity, and to bestow on him the blessings of agriculture and the domestic arts—in other words, to destroy an incompatible Indian way of life by civilizing rather than by killing the Indians.


The “civilized” Indians would not live on their homeland, which the federal government meant to purchase from them at the best possible price by means of treaties negotiated on the legal premise that tribes held title to their land and possessed sufficient sovereignty to transfer title to the true sovereign; that is to say, the United States. The federal government also pledged never to deprive the Indians of their land without their consent or to make war on them without congressional authorization. To prevent settlers or individual states from infringing on Indian rights, in 1790 Congress enacted the first of six statutes collectively known as the Nonintercourse Act, which prohibited the purchase of Indian land without federal approval and carried stiff punishments for crimes committed against Indians.




Not surprisingly, the punishment provision of the law quickly proved toothless. President George Washington attempted to intercede on behalf of the Indians, to whom, he insisted, full legal protection must be afforded, but his admonitions meant nothing to land-hungry whites living beyond the government’s reach. In order to prevent a mutual slaughter, Washington sent troops to the nation’s frontier. Once sucked into the fray, the small American army spent two decades and nearly all its limited resources in wresting the Old Northwest from powerful Indian confederations in undeclared wars. That set a dismal precedent; henceforth, treaties would be a mere legal veneer to conceal wholesale landgrabs that Congress tried to palliate with cash annuities and gifts of merchandise.


After George Washington, no president lost much sleep over Indian rights. Indeed, the executive branch led the way in divesting the Indians of their homelands. In 1817, President James Monroe told General Andrew Jackson that “the savage requires a greater extent of territory to sustain it than is compatible with the progress and just claims of civilized life, and must yield to it.” As president in the 1830s, Jackson took Monroe’s injunction to its harsh but logical extreme. With the authority granted him under the Removal Act of 1830, and by employing varying degrees of duress, Jackson swept the roving tribes of the Old Northwest beyond the Mississippi River. When southerners pressured him to open Indian lands in Alabama and Georgia, Jackson also uprooted the so-called Five Civilized Tribes—the Choctaws, Chickasaws, Creeks, Cherokees, and Seminoles—and resettled them west of the Mississippi River in Indian Territory, an unsustainably large tract spreading over several future states, which was gradually reduced to comprise solely present-day Oklahoma. Most of the “civilized” Indians went peaceably, but it took two long and bloody conflicts for the army to dislodge the Seminoles from their Florida strongholds, and a handful ultimately were allowed to remain.1


Jackson never doubted the justice of his actions, and he truly believed that once beyond the Mississippi River the Indians would be forever free from white usurpation. Fur trappers, traders, and missionaries would be permitted to pass through the Indians’ new home and venture out onto the Great Plains, or into the mountains beyond, but there assuredly would be no further upheaval because army explorers had reported the Great Plains as unsuited to white settlement, and the public took them at their word.




But already there were pressures on the periphery. A burgeoning fur trade on the Missouri River expanded white contact with the western tribes. Also, the removal treaties bound the federal government to protect the relocated tribes not only from acquisitive whites but also from hostile Plains Indians, who had no desire to share their domain with newcomers, be they Indian or white. Meanwhile, white Missourians and Arkansans demanded protection from the dispossessed Indians in the event they found their new land somewhat less than the Eden they had been promised (which they did). The government’s answer was to build a chain of nine forts from Minnesota southward to northwest Louisiana between 1817 and 1842, creating a tantalizing abstraction known as the Permanent Indian Frontier.
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Of the 275,000 Indians whose homelands lay outside Indian Territory and beyond the newly constituted military barrier, the government cared little and knew even less.2 White conceptions of the Indians of the American West were simplistic and tended toward extremes; Indians were either noble and heroic or barbaric and loathsome. But when the “Permanent Indian Frontier” crumbled less than a decade after its creation, a cataclysmic chain of events suddenly brought whites and Indians face-to-face west of the Mississippi.


The first crack in the permanent frontier appeared in 1841. Lured by the promise of fertile land in California and the Oregon Country, a few lumbering caravans of white-topped prairie schooners ventured tentatively onto the plains. The trickle soon became a torrent, and the rutted wagon road thus created along the shifting sands of the dreary Platte River became etched in the nation’s psyche as the Oregon Trail.


Then came the annexation of Texas in 1845, and a year later the United States and Britain settled a contentious dispute over the Oregon boundary. In early 1848, the War with Mexico ended in the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo, by which Mexico ceded California, the Great Basin, and the Southwest, as well as its claims to Texas, recognizing the Rio Grande as the international border. In just three years, the United States had grown by nearly a million square miles and become a continental nation. Expansionist orators exhorted Americans to fulfill the nation’s Manifest Destiny by emigrating to Texas, California, or the Pacific Northwest. (No one as yet considered the Great Plains other  than a vast and tedious obstruction.) In January 1848, gold was discovered in California’s American River. The following year saw a mass migration unequaled in the young nation’s history. Within a decade, there were more whites in California than there were Indians in the entire West. Genocidal gold seekers decimated California’s peaceable small tribes, and the growth of white settlements in the newly organized Oregon Territory alarmed the stronger northwestern tribes.


As yet there had been no open conflict with the Indians in the West, but the peace was tenuous, warned the commissioner of Indian affairs. The Indians, he said, had abstained from attacking emigrant trains out of an expectation of reward from the government and not from fear, because they had not felt “our power and know nothing of our greatness and resources.”3


They would not feel that power for some time to come; the government lacked anything resembling a coherent Indian policy, and the small regular army needed time to build forts in the West. In any case, the commissioner of Indian affairs need not have feared any great, concerted resistance to the white deluge. For one thing, the Indians did not perceive the white onslaught for the apocalyptic threat to their way of life that it was. But even if they had, the Indians of the American West had no common identity—no sense of “Indianness”—and were too busy fighting one another to give their undivided attention to the new threat.


And this was their Achilles’ heel. Only in the Pacific Northwest were the Indians able to unite against the sudden and vigorous white expansion. Few tribes in the West proved able to maintain the internal unity necessary to oppose the white advance. Nearly every tribe broke into two factions, one advocating peaceful accommodation with the whites and adopting white ways, the other holding fast to the traditional ways, resisting the government’s enticements to go peaceably onto reservations. The government grew adept at exploiting these rivalries, giving the army a potent fifth column in its battles to bring the “hostile” Indians to heel. The army would also come to benefit immeasurably from the intertribal warfare that lay at the very foundation of the culture of the Indians of the West. That the army needed Indian allies in order to prevail would prove axiomatic.


In the relations between tribes, there was nothing subtle; outsiders were either allies or enemies. The most intense intertribal conflict occurred on the northern plains, where warfare was fluid and continuous, as tribes struggled to conquer or protect hunting grounds. Tribes everywhere in the West survived and prospered by entering into alliances; those that went it alone suffered horribly. Open battles were rare; wars normally took the form of endless small raids and counter-raids that chipped away at the loser’s domain.


On the Great Plains, the foundation of the Indian way of life was the American bison, commonly known as the buffalo. Buffalo meat was a staple. From the hide, the Indians fashioned robes for warmth and trade, containers for transport and storage, and skins for the distinctive conical tipi—also known as a lodge. No part of the animal was wasted. Not only did the buffalo undergird the economy, but it also shaped the Plains Indians’ religion and culture.


Well before the first American ventured beyond the Mississippi River, the European gifts of horses, guns, and disease had radically altered Plains and Rocky Mountain Indians’ cultures. In the sixteenth century, the Spaniards had introduced the horse to the New World. As the Spanish frontier pushed into the present-day southwestern United States, horses fell into the hands of Indians. Afterward, through theft and barter, the horse culture spread rapidly from tribe to tribe. In 1630, no tribe was mounted; by 1750, all of the Plains tribes and most of the Rocky Mountain Indians rode horses. The horse did not create the buffalo culture, but it made hunting infinitely easier. Horses also increased the frequency and fury of intertribal clashes, because warriors were able to range over distances previously unimaginable on foot. The gun, introduced to the Indians by French trappers and traders, made the hostile encounters far more deadly. White man’s diseases were deadlier yet, decimating western tribes just as they had ravaged those east of the Mississippi. No one knows precisely how many succumbed, but in 1849 alone cholera carried off half the Indian population of the southern plains.4


A grand irony of the Great Plains is that none of the tribes with which the army would clash were native to the lands they claimed. All had been caught up in a vast migration, precipitated by the white settlement of the East. This Indian exodus had begun in the late seventeenth century and was far from over when the Oregon Trail opened in 1843. As the dislocated Indians spilled onto the plains, they jockeyed with native tribes for the choicest hunting lands. In a very real sense, then—and this cannot be overemphasized—the wars that were to come between the Indians and the government for the Great Plains,  the seat of the longest and bloodiest struggles, would represent a clash of emigrant peoples. A way of life was lost, but it had not been of long duration.


The most powerful newcomers before the whites spilled onto the plains were the Sioux, formerly a woodlands people of the present-day upper Midwest. As it shifted west, the Sioux nation separated into three divisions: the Dakotas, a semisedentary people who clung to the Minnesota River; the Nakotas, who settled east of the Missouri River; and the Lakotas, who wrestled their way onto the northern plains. The Lakotas were the true horse-and-buffalo Sioux of popular imagination, and they constituted nearly half the Sioux nation. The Lakotas in turn divided into seven tribes: the Oglalas, Brulés, Miniconjous, Two Kettles, Hunkpapas, Blackfeet, and Sans Arcs, of which the Oglalas and the Brulés were the largest. In fact, these two tribes alone outnumbered all the non-Lakota Indians on the northern plains.


In their westward march across present-day Nebraska and the Dakotas during the early nineteenth century, the Lakotas gradually allied themselves with the Cheyennes and the Arapahos, who had been pushed onto the northern plains in advance of the Lakotas and had already forged an enduring bond, albeit an odd coupling. Their languages were mutually unintelligible, an impediment they overcame with a sophisticated sign language, and their characters could not have been more dissimilar. The Arapahos tended to be a kindly and accommodating people, whereas the Cheyennes evolved into fearsome warriors. The first contact between the Lakotas and the Cheyenne-Arapaho combination was hostile, because they competed for the game-rich Black Hills country. “Peace would be made,” a Cheyenne chief recounted. “They would hold out the pipe to us and say, ‘Let us be good friends,’ but time and again treacherously broke their promises.” Not until the 1840s did the Lakotas keep their word. By then, many of the Cheyennes and Arapahos, fed up with the duplicity of the Lakotas and lured by white traders, had migrated south, forming the Southern Cheyenne and Southern Arapaho tribes and leaving the Lakotas the undisputed suzerains of the northern plains.


The Lakotas and the Cheyennes and Arapahos who remained on the northern plains had the same tribal enemies—the badly outnumbered but hard-fighting Crows of present-day central Montana and northern Wyoming and the semi-agricultural Pawnees who dwelled along the Platte River in Nebraska. The basis of the rivalry was both a relentless  drive by the Lakota–Northern Cheyenne–Northern Arapaho alliance to expand their hunting lands and the warrior culture common to all Plains tribes. Geographically separated from each other, the Crows and the Pawnees never formed an alliance, but being badly in need of friends—or enemies of their enemies conceived of as friends—both tribes instead eventually cast their fate with the whites.5


Similar jostling had occurred on the southern plains. The Kiowas, expelled from the Black Hills by the Lakotas, had retreated southward into the country known as Comancheria, where they first fought and then concluded an alliance with the Comanches. The uncontested lords of the southern plains and the most accomplished horsemen in the West, the Comanches were a fierce and cruel people who roamed and raided at will from the Arkansas River deep into Texas. They warred sporadically with Mexico but got along well enough with the Americans until settlers threatened their hunting grounds. The Republic of Texas treated the Comanches even worse than had the Mexican government, pursuing a policy of betrayal and brutality that culminated in the slaughter of a Comanche peace delegation. The Comanches afterward counted Texans as their bitterest enemies, and they regarded depredations against Texas settlers as both just retribution for the murder of their peace chiefs and good sport.


The Southern Arapahos and Southern Cheyennes availed themselves of their proximity to Comancheria to raid Comanche and Kiowa horse herds until 1840, when the four tribes concluded a permanent peace, forming a potentially potent combination to contest the advancing whites.6
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All but the most dull-witted federal official understood that the quiet along the overland roads, which had so pleasantly surprised the commissioner of Indian affairs in 1849, was temporary. As emigrants depleted timber, grass, and game at an alarming rate, Indians along the travel routes were reduced to near starvation. Recognizing that the Indians must eventually either stand and fight, ally themselves with the whites, or perish, the government accepted three responsibilities: to provide military protection to the emigrant roads and to the burgeoning white settlements; to extinguish Indian land titles; and to develop a humane policy to provide for the divested Indians. That the government would  meet its responsibilities looked doubtful. The small frontier army had barely enough men to defend its small forts, much less protect emigrants. Negotiation appeared the only viable short-term strategy, and to treat with the Indians, the Bureau of Indian Affairs called on Tom Fitzpatrick, a former mountain man turned Indian agent. Enjoying the implicit trust of the Plains tribes, Fitzpatrick had proven more capable than any other agent of performing the herculean duties of the office as it was then defined. As the federal government’s representative to one or more tribes, an Indian agent was required to work to prevent conflict between settlers and Indians, cooperate with the military as needed to keep the peace, and distribute government annuities honestly and promptly.


In 1851, Fitzpatrick assembled ten thousand Northern Plains Indians at Fort Laramie for a council of unsurpassed magnitude. The chiefs signed an agreement called the Fort Laramie Treaty—which, as was nearly always the case, the Indians understood only dimly, if at all—and then joyously accepted gifts for their people from the Great Father. Two years later, Fitzpatrick concluded a similar accord at Fort Atkinson with the Southern Plains tribes. The dual treaties were models of brevity, their provisions seemingly unambiguous. The Indians were to refrain from warring among themselves or against Americans; to accept formal tribal boundaries; to permit the government to build roads and forts in their territories (it already had); and to not molest pioneers transiting their country. In exchange, the government promised to shield the Indians from white despoilers of their lands (which it lacked either the capacity or the will to do) and to pay the tribes annuities for fifty years (which the Senate subsequently slashed to ten years).


Fitzpatrick had done his job, but he condemned the treaties as mere temporizing. “The policy must be either an army or an annuity,” he argued with uncommon prescience. “Either an inducement must be offered to them greater than the gains of plunder, or a force must be at hand able to restrain them and check their depredations. Any compromise between the two systems will only be liable to all the miseries of failure.” Fitzpatrick also disapproved of the custom of extinguishing Indian title for the simple reason, he said, that the Plains Indians held no title beyond a “vagabond right,” amounting to the privilege of occupancy by conquest. Few Indians would have argued with him, and none seriously considered halting raids on tribal foes simply because the government willed it. Nor would they accept tribal boundaries. “You have split my land and I don’t like it,” declared a Lakota chief. “These lands once belonged to the Kiowas and the Crows, but we whipped these nations out of them, and in this we did what the white men do when they want the lands of the Indians.”7


Despite the treaties, conflict often arose between the army and the Indians, though seldom purposely. Sometimes it resulted from a single rash or foolish act committed by hot-blooded young warriors or blundering junior army officers. Such was the case on the northern plains in August 1854, when John L. Grattan, a cocky lieutenant fresh from West Point who had boasted that he could crush the entire Lakota people with a handful of infantry and a howitzer, picked a fight with the peaceable Brulé chief Conquering Bear over an emigrant’s stray cow that a warrior had butchered. Conquering Bear offered to make restitution, but Grattan instead fired on his village. When the smoke cleared, Conquering Bear lay mortally wounded, and Grattan and twenty-nine soldiers were dead.


Grattan’s foolhardy act had constituted naked aggression. Certainly it was provocation enough for the Brulés to declare open war on the whites. Nonetheless, the Brulés demonstrated remarkable restraint. A war party attacked a stagecoach and killed three passengers; otherwise, emigrant trains continued to pass through the Brulé country unimpeded. But that did not satisfy the War Department, which refused to concede that Grattan’s foolish actions had precipitated the clash. Determined to avenge what it called the Grattan Massacre, the War Department ordered Colonel William S. Harney to administer the Indians a sound “thrashing.” He did so two years later, obliterating a Brulé camp near Blue Water Creek in the Nebraska Territory in September 1856, killing half of the warriors and taking most of the women and children captive. The humbled Brulé chiefs surrendered the perpetrators of the stagecoach raid, among whom was a daring war leader named Spotted Tail. Held at Fort Leavenworth for a year, Spotted Tail found the white man’s power so impressive that he became a lifelong peace advocate, or—as some Lakotas put it—he returned from incarceration “fat, soft, and supine.” Beefy he might have been, but Spotted Tail was hardly supine, and he would rise meteorically to a position of unparalleled power over the Brulé tribe.


For a decade, the specter of Harney “the Butcher” haunted the entire Lakota nation. There was much loud talk in council lodges but  no action—just a gnawing hunger for revenge. Harney empathized with the Indians. Taking no pleasure in his victory over the Brulés, he reminded Washington that “the Indians had been simply defending their rights.”8


In the spirit of injustice engendered by the “Grattan Massacre,” the government also decided that the Cheyennes, who had caused emigrants no real trouble and had no intention of doing so, nonetheless merited punishment. An army attack on an unsuspecting Cheyenne village on the Solomon River in the Kansas Territory in the summer of 1857 killed few warriors but scored a psychological victory, teaching them, according to the Cheyenne Indian agent, the futility of opposing the white man.


It was a bad moment for the Cheyennes to concede defeat. The year after the Solomon River fight, white prospectors found gold in present-day eastern Colorado. Almost overnight, the city of Denver sprang up. Miners and farmers elbowed their way onto Cheyenne and Arapaho hunting grounds, overrunning most of the huge tract promised the tribes under the Treaty of Fort Laramie negotiated by Tom Fitzpatrick a decade earlier. In February 1861, ten Cheyenne and Arapaho chiefs—Black Kettle and Lean Bear among them—signed the Fort Wise Treaty, which committed their tribes to live on a pitifully small reservation on the arid plains of southeastern Colorado Territory. Although most Cheyennes and Arapahos disavowed the chiefs’ pledges and continued to inhabit their traditional hunting grounds, they committed no acts of violence. None of the Indians could foresee the horrible consequences their passive resistance would soon engender.


Meanwhile, farther south, efforts to subdue the Kiowas and the Comanches proved worse than useless. Neither tribe molested the emigrant trails, but they continued to attack Texas settlements. That Texas now constituted part of the United States was of no consequence to them. When regular army protection proved wanting, the Texas Rangers took the lead in whipping the Comanches in three engagements that inflamed the Indians, who not only visited unprecedented devastation on the Texas and Mexican frontiers but also struck at westbound travelers.


The military was largely powerless to stop them. Much of the antebellum frontier army’s limited resources were devoted to quashing Indian uprisings in the Pacific Northwest that dragged on for three bloody years. At the conclusion of the last war in 1858, the vanquished  Indians signed treaties that fixed their reservation boundaries. The herding of the Pacific Northwest tribes onto carefully prescribed tracts and the Fort Wise Treaty three years later were the first steps in what was gradually to become known as the policy of concentration. Indians would be removed from land that whites wanted or had already taken and relocated as far as possible from the contaminating influence of the invaders. Then would begin the noble experiment of converting the Indians into Christian farmers. Of course, because most Indians were not interested in the blessings the white man wished to bestow, government attempts at concentration usually meant war.9


The whites were coming now, in numbers incomprehensible to the Indians. They assaulted Indian lands from every direction. Settlers rolled in from the east, while miners poked at the periphery of the Indian country from the west, north, and south and simply overran it when new mineral strikes were made. In westerners’ parlance, Indians who resisted the onslaught were to be “rounded up” and rendered harmless on reservation land too miserable to interest the whites. It would be a grand encirclement and a slow strangulation that would require three decades to choke the life out of recalcitrant Indians.
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During the tumultuous 1850s, only the Southwest remained quiet. The vast region, which embraced not only present-day Arizona and New Mexico but also northern Mexico, was called Apacheria after its dominant Indian occupants, the Apaches. Far from being a distinct tribe, the Apaches were a loose conglomeration of bands divided into two great divisions, the Eastern and the Western.10 Two groups of the Western Division—the Western Apaches and the Chiricahuas, neither of which had much use for the other—would cause the government the greatest difficulties.


By the time the first Americans ventured into Apacheria in the 1820s, the Western Apaches and the Chiricahua Apaches had been at war, first with Spaniards and then with Mexicans and their Indian collaborators, for nearly two centuries. Confounding troops, laying waste to haciendas, and levying tribute on towns, the Apaches rendered the Mexican presence in Apacheria tenuous at best. The Apaches initially greeted Americans warmly as fellow enemies of the Mexicans, but tension quickly mounted after the United States obtained much of  Apacheria under the Gadsden Purchase Treaty of 1853, which obligated Washington to prevent Apache raids into Mexico. This the Apaches could not comprehend. The Mexicans remained their enemies and had been the enemies of the Americans; why, then, should they cease raiding south of the border as long as they behaved themselves north of it?


Then, in 1860, prospectors discovered gold in the mountainous western reaches of the Territory of New Mexico, the heart of the Chihenne (Eastern Chiricahua Apache) homeland. When the Chihenne chief Mangas Coloradas attempted to broker a peaceful accommodation, prospectors horsewhipped him, whereupon he declared war on the Americans. Even more egregious was the mistreatment accorded Cochise, chief of the Chokonens (Central Chiricahuas), who was on friendly terms with settlers in his desert homeland in present-day southeastern Arizona. George H. Bascom, another blundering lieutenant cut from the same West Point mold as Grattan, squandered the goodwill in February 1861 when he arrested Cochise and several of his warriors under the mistaken impression that the chief had kidnapped a boy from a distant ranch. Cochise escaped and took hostages of his own. After several days of fruitless parleying, Cochise killed his hostages, and Bascom hanged the Chiricahuas, including Cochise’s brother. With that, Arizona exploded in an orgy of violence.


And then, in the spring of 1861, the regular army vanished from the frontier. Indians puzzled over the abrupt departure of the soldiers. The Chiricahuas, concluding they had beaten the army, stepped up their depredations. But the Plains Indians hesitated and in so doing missed a brief, unique opportunity to slow the white tide.


The Plains Indians’ moment to strike passed, and soon new soldiers came—westerners who thought no more of shooting an Indian than they did a deer. They were a tougher caliber of men than the regulars, and there were far more of them. Fifteen thousand volunteers, drawn from the nearly three million eventually raised by the federal government to combat the Southern rebellion, saw duty in the West during the Civil War, double the strength of the antebellum frontier regular army. Most hailed from California, which was to be expected, because the state’s population stood at nearly half a million and continued to climb. In fact, the Civil War caused no drop in emigration to the West. On the contrary, despite the momentous upheaval that absorbed the energies and resources of the North and the South, mineral strikes  throughout the West enticed whites in ever greater numbers into previously undisturbed Indian lands.


Indeed, despite the seemingly endless need for more troops to defeat the Confederacy, the Lincoln administration encouraged people to hit the trails west. In 1862, Congress passed the Homestead Act. Beginning January 1, 1863, any U.S. citizen or intended citizen, including free slaves and female heads of household, would receive title to 160 acres of federal land west of the Mississippi River, provided the claimant had improved the property, had resided on it for five consecutive years, and had never taken up arms against the United States. Families looking for a fresh start farming on the prairie filled the emigrant roads, already swollen with fortune seekers, and the pressure on Indian lands intensified.


The population boom led to the creation of six territories between 1861 and 1864: Nevada, Idaho, Arizona, Montana, Dakota, and Colorado, which grew the fastest of them all. A direct road to Denver was laid. Called the Smoky Hill Trail, it ran through prime Indian hunting ground. Soon stagecoach and telegraph lines crisscrossed the Indian country, while the states of Nebraska and Kansas pushed their borders deeper onto the plains. Although their anger at the white interlopers mounted, the Southern Plains tribes kept the peace, even as the circle of their world grew smaller.


Despite the quiet on the southern plains, there was enough violence elsewhere for two volunteer generals, James H. Carleton and Patrick E. Connor, to achieve fame in the Civil War West. In July 1862, part of Carleton’s “California Column” drove several hundred Chiricahua warriors under Cochise and Mangas Coloradas from Apache Pass, a strategic defile in the heart of Chokonen country. Mangas Coloradas was wounded in the encounter; six months later, a Carleton subordinate lured the chief into camp under a flag of truce and then murdered him. Despite the twin blows, the Chiricahuas were hardly beaten; on the contrary, after Carleton left, Cochise redoubled his effort to depopulate southeastern Arizona.


Continuing east, Carleton vanquished the small Mescalero Apache tribe of the New Mexico Territory. Next he crushed the powerful Navajo nation, which had been engaged with New Mexicans in a long war of raids and retaliation, in a scorched-earth campaign led by his old friend the legendary frontiersman Kit Carson. While Carleton waged war in the Southwest, General Connor cleared the travel routes  between California and Utah and then decimated a renegade Shoshone band that had made war on Rocky Mountain gold miners.11
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While the Southwest bled and the Rocky Mountains trembled, relative calm prevailed on the northern plains until 1863, when warfare erupted on an unprecedented scale. The cause was indirect—a brutal uprising of the Dakota Sioux, whose once ample Minnesota reservation had shrunk to a sliver of land along the Minnesota River while the white population of the state had soared. Predatory traders plied the Dakotas with liquor and separated them from their annuity money, and missionaries harassed them. Nearby farmers prospered, while hunger and hopelessness stalked the reservation. On August 17, 1862, young warriors returning empty-handed from a hunt murdered six settlers. There was no premeditation, but there was also no containing a decade of accumulated rage. Faced with certain government retaliation, the chiefs chose to fight, and Dakota war parties butchered hundreds of settlers before Union troops drove them onto the plains and into the arms of their Nakota kinsmen. In pitched battles in 1863 and 1864, the army crippled the Dakotas and the Nakotas, who—less a small number who escaped to Canada or joined the Lakotas—afterward submitted to reservation life.


The Minnesota uprising also sent shock waves across the relatively quiescent southern plains. Coloradans, already uneasy at sharing the territory with the Southern Cheyennes and Arapahos, were horrified. They construed the slightest Indian offense—there had been precious few, and those that did occur consisted of bloodless horse and cattle raids—as portending a similar massacre on their soil. Preemptive strikes against the tribes made sense to many Coloradans, including the military district commander, Colonel John Chivington. Indeed, it was Chivington’s policy of preemptive war that had cost Lean Bear his life. After Lean Bear was murdered, Chief Black Kettle had restrained the warriors from wiping out the small army detachment responsible for the atrocity. But neither he nor any other chief could long prevent wrathful warriors from retaliating against the overland routes and isolated ranches in southern Nebraska and western Kansas. No longer merely stock-stealing enterprises, their raids were now grim and gory affairs, replete with rape and butchery. Although most attacks in the  summer of 1864 were perpetrated by the Dog Soldiers—an unfailingly belligerent Cheyenne band—young men from Black Kettle’s band were also guilty of some of the more notorious atrocities.


In August, Governor Evans and Colonel Chivington recruited a short-term regiment, the Third Colorado Cavalry, composed of rowdies, ruffians, and gutter trash eager to kill Indians. Before they could act, Black Kettle sued for peace. Evans had invited friendly Indians to separate themselves from the hostiles, and now Black Kettle was doing just that, but the public clamored for revenge. Evans passed the problem to Chivington, whose principal concern was ensuring that his Colorado cavalrymen saw action before their enlistment expired. At daybreak on November 29, Chivington swept down on Black Kettle’s unsuspecting village at Sand Creek. As Chivington deployed for the attack, Black Kettle raised first the American flag and then a white flag over his tipi. But Chivington wasn’t interested in displays of patriotism or truces. He wanted no prisoners taken, and none were. Two hundred Cheyennes, two-thirds of them women and children, were massacred in a manner reminiscent of the Minnesota uprising. They “were scalped, their brains knocked out,” an army interpreter later testified. “The [Coloradans] used their knives, ripped open women, clubbed little children, knocked them in the head with their guns, beat their brains out, and mutilated their bodies in every sense of the word.” Black Kettle, however, escaped along with his wife, who somehow survived nine wounds. Wanting only to avoid the inevitable cycle of war and retribution, he took the survivors well south of the Arkansas River. Meanwhile, Colonel Chivington and the “Bloody Third” rode into Denver to a hero’s welcome.12


As Indian fury over the Sand Creek Massacre scorched the snow-covered southern plains, Southern Cheyenne, Arapaho, and Lakota chiefs agreed to “raise the battle-axe until death.” That meant not a fight to the finish, as the ominous words suggested, but rather a massive raid followed by a return to customary pursuits like hunting buffalo and sparring with enemy tribes. In January and February 1865, warriors ravaged the Platte River Road and threw Denver into a panic. Then the allied tribes headed north to the Black Hills to escape retribution and recount their exploits to their northern kinsmen, who in turn staged a “war” of their own. As many as three thousand warriors, constituting the largest war party the Great Plains had ever seen, attacked Platte Bridge Station, a strategic but weakly garrisoned military post,  mangling a cavalry detachment and ambushing a wagon train. With that, the Indians considered the soldiers sufficiently chastised, and they scattered for the fall buffalo hunt.


In the army’s view, however, the conflict had scarcely begun. In February, the War Department created a sprawling new geographic command called the Military Division of the Missouri to encompass the Great Plains, Texas, and the Rocky Mountains. Headquarters were in St. Louis, Missouri. The division commander, the bombastic but capable major general John Pope, had fashioned plans for a concerted offensive in the early spring of 1865 before Indian ponies recovered from the harsh plains winter and raids resumed on the emigrant routes. Three expeditions were to strike the recalcitrant Plains tribes simultaneously. Pope predicated his strategy on two premises: that Civil War veterans would be available in large numbers for duty in the West, and that he would have authority to deal with hostile tribes as he saw fit.


Pope’s was a fine plan, but it was not to be. With the end of the Civil War in April 1865, Union volunteers expected to go home, and they no sooner arrived in the West than they deserted. The second pillar of Pope’s plan—civilian support—eroded before the campaign had even begun. Simply put, after Sand Creek the government had no stomach for a fight. Instead, Congress authorized Governor Newton Edmunds of the Dakota Territory to negotiate a new treaty with the Lakotas and appointed a commission to negotiate a lasting peace on the southern plains. The War Department also wavered. In the end, only one of Pope’s three columns took the field. Commanded by General Connor, the expedition marched on the Black Hills in August 1865. Connor’s operation was a fiasco. Men deserted in droves, and in a pair of inept encounters with the Lakotas and the Cheyennes, two of Connor’s columns barely escaped annihilation. That ended, at least for the moment, the military’s effort to win a peace.13


[image: images]


Seldom had government policy toward the Plains Indians been consistent or even coherent. So it was in the autumn of 1865, when Governor Edmunds invited to his peace conference the very Indians then battling Connor. That none of them came was of little concern to Edmunds. Because his sole reason for seeking a treaty was to make the Dakota Territory appear safe to prospective settlers, in October he  collected the signatures of some dissipated chiefs of “stay-around-the-fort” bands and proclaimed peace on the northern plains. For reasons known only to himself, the commissioner of Indian affairs endorsed Edmunds’s fiction.


Something more closely approximating a real treaty was concluded at a grand peace council with the southern tribes on the Little Arkansas River in October 1865. Repudiating Chivington’s “great wrongs,” the commissioners convinced the Indians that their interests would best be served by accepting a reservation that encompassed much of southwestern Kansas, nearly all the Texas Panhandle, and a large part of Indian Territory—another step on the road to concentration, another tightening of the circle.


Generous on paper, the treaty proved an empty gesture. Texas refused to relinquish any portion of the panhandle, and Kansas refused to sanction a reservation within its boundaries. The only portion of the proposed reservation that the federal government controlled lay within Indian Territory. The Treaty of the Little Arkansas, General Pope sneered, was not worth the paper it was printed on.14


But that was no longer a matter of Pope’s concern. In late June 1865, he relinquished command of the Military Division of the Missouri to Major General William T. Sherman. Second only to Ulysses S. Grant in the pantheon of Northern war heroes, Sherman brought to the job a profound love of the West, where, he wrote to a friend, his “heart has always been.” It was an odd sentiment, considering that the West had nearly killed him. As a San Francisco bank manager before the Civil War, Sherman had suffered from anxiety and acute asthma brought on by the city’s belligerent business climate. But locals had appreciated his West Point background, and during the vigilante days of 1856 they elected him to a brief stint as major general of the California militia. When Sherman assumed command of the Military Division of the Missouri nine years later at the age of forty-five, his furrowed face, gray-streaked stubble beard, and unkempt close-cropped hair gave him more the appearance of an aged prospector than a potent general in the prime of life.


Sherman held contradictory opinions of the Indian. On the one hand, he felt pity for “the poor devil [who] naturally wriggles against his doom” and anger at “whites looking for gold [who] kill Indians just as they would kill bears and pay no regard for treaties.” He objected, however, to the Indians’ “sloth” and believed that they must be treated  as recalcitrant children in need of “discipline.” When discipline failed, then total war became necessary, with an outcome unpleasant to contemplate. Addressing a class of graduating West Pointers, Sherman could only advise them to help achieve the “inevitable result” as humanely as possible.15


Inevitable, perhaps. But war was something Sherman could ill-afford in 1866. Union volunteers were mustering out far faster than regular forces could reestablish themselves on the frontier. Congress was determined to maintain the smallest possible standing army, and Sherman found himself with fewer than twelve thousand troops, scarcely sufficient to patrol the emigrant roads. Before stepping down, General Pope had promulgated strict rules compelling civilians to travel only on these main routes and to band together in trains of sufficient size to defend themselves. Although the orders were difficult to enforce, westerners applauded their intent, and Sherman renewed them.


The frontier army in 1866 thus found itself in the dual role of gatekeeper and guardian of the westering population of a nation suddenly delivered from internecine war and bursting with energy. During one six-week period, more than six thousand wagons passed through Nebraska headed west. Emigrants scoured the land along the travel routes like locusts until there was not a stick of wood with which to kindle a fire; even buffalo chips were at a premium. Along the Platte River Road, telegraph poles became more plentiful than trees. Isolated ranches offered inviting targets to Indian raiders or, as one officer observed, to white marauders masquerading as Indians. Dismissive of the risks, the governor of Kansas organized the state-sponsored Immigrant Society to lure settlers to western Kansas, and thanks to the Homestead Act there was no dearth of takers; in the decade following the Civil War, the populations of Kansas and Nebraska grew threefold.


Sherman pinned his hopes for a permanent peace not on the army but rather on the transcontinental railroad, then under construction. The rapid westward progress of the Union Pacific astounded him; by late 1866, track had reached the north bank of the Platte opposite Fort Kearny (meanwhile, beyond his jurisdiction, the Central Pacific was slowly pushing east into the Sierra Nevada mountain range). Sherman proposed to accord the Union Pacific “all the protection and encouragement” within his power to give. That, however, would require troops Sherman did not yet have. As he told Grant in August, “We are in no condition to punish the Indians this year, for our troops are barely able  to hold the long thin lines that are traveled by daily stages and small parties of emigrants . . . All I ask is comparative quiet this year, for by next year we can have new cavalry enlisted, equipped, and mounted, and ready to go and visit the Indians where they live.”16


But a Janus-faced Indian policy and an uncompromising Oglala war leader named Red Cloud were about to deny Sherman the tranquillity he so badly needed.










CHAPTER 2
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RED CLOUD’S WAR


RED CLOUD abhorred liquor, “the water that makes men crazy.” Alcoholism killed his Brulé father three decades before Lieutenant Grattan fired the ill-conceived volley that touched off war with the Lakotas. Fatherless at age four, his family name disgraced, Red Cloud went to the Platte River country in 1825 to live with his mother’s Northern Oglala band, whose chief was her brother, the affable Old Smoke. Initially ostracized, Red Cloud compensated for his dubious lineage with superior war skills.


Brave and charismatic, Red Cloud built a considerable following while still in his twenties, but he was quick to anger and had a cruel streak that cost him the respect of many Lakotas. Some also considered him a murderer for having shot a rival chief during a brawl. When Old Smoke died around 1850, his son formally succeeded him as chief, but by then Red Cloud had cemented his position as a war leader, and he became de facto chief in times of trouble.1


Between 1861 and 1862, the Northern Oglala and Miniconjou Lakotas and their Cheyenne and Arapaho allies fought a final, all-out war with the Crows for control of the Powder River country. By the terms of the Fort Laramie Treaty, the land belonged to the Crows, but the 150-mile-wide tract between the Bighorn Mountains and the Black Hills was prime hunting ground, and their enemies meant to have it. That they succeeded was largely due to Red Cloud. Now forty-three years old, he had entered the second stage of a great fighting man’s life—that of strategist. Red Cloud set general objectives and organized large war parties but delegated their conduct to younger men of merit,  including a strange and silent twenty-two-year-old Oglala warrior named Crazy Horse.


With the defeat of the Crows, the allied tribes thought they had found a home far from grasping whites, but in 1862 gold was discovered in southwestern Montana Territory. A year later, the frontier entrepreneur John Bozeman blazed a trail to the diggings along the eastern base of the Bighorn Mountains, straight through the heart of the newly won hunting grounds. White travelers so thoroughly depleted buffalo and antelope herds that the Northern Oglalas nearly starved during the winter of 1865–1866.


The crucial question for the government as spring 1866 approached was whether the Indians would move against the Bozeman Trail. Most high officials, including General Sherman, assumed that the winter of hunger would render them pliable, but to make certain the Indians remained quiet, Sherman ordered two posts built on the Bozeman Trail, which were to be named Fort Phil Kearny and Fort C. F. Smith. The forts would belong to the Department of the Platte, commanded by Brigadier General Philip St. George Cooke, a doddering regular army officer shelved during the Civil War.2


While Sherman arranged to occupy the Bozeman Trail, in early June 1866 the Indian Bureau convened a peace council at Fort Laramie to negotiate the Indians’ permission for whites to travel over the Bozeman Trail unmolested. All the principal Northern Oglala and Miniconjou chiefs were present, but Red Cloud spoke loudest. His opposite at the Fort Laramie talks was Edward B. Taylor. An Indian Bureau representative for whom deceit was a perfectly acceptable negotiating tool, Taylor assured Red Cloud that the government would forbid travelers to despoil the Bozeman country, which a subordinate called an impossible promise, “well calculated to deceive the Indians.” Taylor also assured the chiefs that the Great Father had no wish to garrison soldiers on the Bozeman.


The lie held until June 13, when the Second Battalion, Eighteenth U.S. Infantry, commanded by Colonel Henry B. Carrington, marched into Fort Laramie en route to the Bozeman Trail to build and garrison the two planned forts. When Red Cloud saw the soldiers, he exploded, haranguing the peace commission for “treating the assembled chiefs as children” and pretending to negotiate for rights in a country they intended to conquer. Accusing the government of bad faith, he vowed to expel the army. “The Great Father sends us presents and wants us  to sell him the road,” declared Red Cloud wrathfully, “but the White Chief goes with soldiers to steal the road before Indians say Yes or No.” He and his adherents returned north to prevent white soldiers from stealing from them the land that they had only recently stolen from the Crows. Meanwhile, Taylor secured the agreement of several stay-around-the-fort chiefs with no claim to the country and then telegraphed Washington that a cordial peace had been obtained. Throughout the remainder of 1866, he would feed the Interior Department a steady stream of misinformation and lies that blinded the government to the dangers on the Bozeman Trail.3
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Colonel Henry B. Carrington fought well from behind a desk. He owed his rank to political connections and spent the Civil War on staff assignments. Little about him inspired confidence as a combat leader. Just five feet four inches tall, Carrington was an elitist who once called a subordinate illiterate because the man had attended public schools. Yet while Carrington’s Yale Law School degree and bookishness might have served him well in Washington parlors, they counted for nothing with the combat veterans he commanded. Sherman, however, was not worried and encouraged officers’ wives to accompany “Carrington’s Overland Circus.” In early July, this procession of seven hundred troops; three hundred women, children, and civilian contractors; and 226-mule-drawn wagons set out for the Bighorn region laden with everything except sufficient ammunition for sustained combat.4


On July 15, Carrington selected a grassy valley just south of the junction of the Bozeman Trail and Big Piney Creek as the site of the future Fort Kearny. From the construction camps, the blue snow-fringed Bighorn Mountains on the western horizon seemed close enough to touch. Strategically, the site was sound; it lay in the heart of the Northern Oglala hunting lands. But from a tactical standpoint, it left much to be desired. High ground dominated the valley on three sides. Two miles to the north, the Bozeman Trail passed behind a long elevation called Lodge Trail Ridge. West of the fort, a low ridge that Colonel Carrington christened the Sullivant Hills in honor of his wife’s maiden name blocked the view to a pinery five miles distant that provided the wood Carrington needed to build the stockade. That alone should have caused the colonel to reconsider the location. He found it inconceivable, however, that a large force of hostile Indians might lurk amid forests  and hills “too lovely to define, too picturesque to imitate.” But they were there, a delegation of Cheyenne peace chiefs warned Carrington on July 16—thousands of them under Red Cloud’s banner. Whether because he disbelieved their warning, doubted their motives, or was just plain overconfident, Carrington declined their offer of a hundred warriors; he had, he assured the chiefs, men enough of his own.


The next morning, Red Cloud struck the Bozeman, and in the flight of an arrow it became a ghost trail, devoid of white travelers. Then the Indians turned their attention to the unfinished fort itself, and the picturesque landscape took on a menacing aspect. During the day, warriors watched the soldiers from Lodge Trail Ridge. After nightfall, Indian campfires burned uncomfortably close. War parties rose from the earth and thundered down the Sullivant Hills, corralling wood trains and keeping the troops in a constant state of alarm. Anyone who became separated from his companions or ventured out alone was as good as dead. Carrington’s inexperience, a seemingly trivial matter in the hopeful atmosphere of early summer, now paralyzed the command, such as it was; Carrington had no cavalry, and most of the enlisted men were raw recruits, carrying outmoded muzzle-loading Springfield rifled muskets. Few men could shoot straight because Carrington scheduled no target practice; he considered finishing Fort Kearny before winter more important than basic training. Carrington had the added responsibility of constructing Fort C. F. Smith, and so, on August 9, he sent two companies under Captain Nathaniel C. Kinney through the loose Indian cordon ninety miles up the Bozeman Trail to build the post. While the men labored, Captain Kinney settled into a long drunk, leaving to the wolves the bodies of soldiers killed beyond the gates.


Carrington’s greatest handicap was not untrained soldiers or inebriated subordinates but a high command in denial. Taylor’s sham treaty and repeated assurances of Indian goodwill led General Cooke to ignore Carrington’s pleas for more men and ammunition. Cooke reported none of the latter’s concerns up the chain, and in late August, as warriors flocked to Red Cloud’s banner, an uninformed Sherman assured General Grant that all was well on the Bozeman Trail. Meanwhile, Red Cloud’s star was ascendant; the Northern Cheyenne and Arapaho war factions stood with him, while the Miniconjou, Sans Arc, and Hunkpapa Lakotas all contributed large parties to the war effort. Even a handful of Crows switched sides. By September 1, 1866, at least fifteen hundred warriors had congregated in Red Cloud’s Tongue River valley encampment. Time was running out for Carrington.5
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On October 31, Carrington dedicated Fort Kearny. The colonel might have been an unknown quantity as a combat officer, but he was certainly a fine engineer. He had constructed a seventeen-acre marvel of frontier-army engineering enclosed within a thirty-nine-hundred-foot-long wall of eight-foot-high pine logs. There were firing platforms and loopholes for rifles and two blockhouses. Awesome to behold, the defenses seemed excessive to a visiting army inspector, who censured Carrington for “[thinking] only of building his post.”


General Cooke also wanted Carrington to show some combat initiative, urging him to attack Red Cloud when winter came. Carrington resisted. In letter after letter, he had made clear to Cooke the obstacles he faced. His 308 officers and men were stretched thin guarding the post’s wood and hay trains and escorting army wagons on the Bozeman Trail. Morale was low, and the troops were poorly clad. Talk of an offensive was nonsense. Discontented subordinate officers eager for action compounded Carrington’s woes, particularly Captain William Judd Fetterman, who complained of being “afflicted with an incompetent commanding officer.” Fetterman also purportedly boasted that under proper leadership—meaning himself—“a company of regulars could whip a thousand, and a regiment could whip the whole array of hostile tribes.”6


Fed up with a prodding department commander and sniping subordinates, in early December Carrington vowed to strike back the next time the Indians raided the daily wood trains. He finally had reinforcements—fifty cavalry recruits who could hardly mount their horses—and decided to test them and their commander, Lieutenant Horatio S. Bingham. Unbeknownst to Carrington, the Indians were planning a surprise of their own. Using decoys, they wanted to lure soldiers from the fort into an ambush behind Lodge Trail Ridge. It was a timeworn Indian tactic, but one unfamiliar to Carrington and his officers. At daybreak on December 6, one hundred warriors perhaps led by the young Crazy Horse (the evidence of his presence is inconclusive) gathered along the pinery road. Red Cloud took up a station on a ridge to direct the decoys with flags and mirrors.


The wood train left Fort Kearny on schedule. When the wagons were three miles out, the decoys struck. Carrington countered with a pincer movement that misfired because Lieutenant Bingham disobeyed  orders and chased Indian decoys into an ambush. Most of his cavalrymen escaped, but a panic-stricken Bingham simply threw away his pistol and awaited his end. A search party later found him sprawled naked over a tree stump with fifty arrows protruding from his body. Afterward, Captain Fetterman grumbled that “the fight was a failure and that Carrington was not fit to conduct one.” Carrington might have agreed; in any event, he staged no more attacks. Instead, he began feverishly to drill his men.7
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When the great blow fell on Fort Kearny two weeks later, it was led by Miniconjous, not Red Cloud, on behalf of a recently deceased Miniconjou chief with a score to settle. Many years earlier, drunken soldiers had looted and defecated in his lodge. Before dying, the chief told his friends to avenge the indignity with an attack on the white intruders.


Because the decoy-and-ambush tactic had nearly succeeded on December 6, the Miniconjous chose to repeat it. Once again, a small band would attack the wood train and then retreat in apparent disarray when troops rode to relieve it. Mounted decoys would linger to lure the soldiers over Lodge Trail Ridge to a lower, abutting ridge along which the Bozeman Trail ran north to Peno Creek. There the main force would spring the trap.8
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December 21 dawned gray and cold. The ground was bare, but the smell of coming snow hung heavy in the air. The Cheyennes, Arapahos, and Oglalas, all under Red Cloud’s general supervision, hid in a lightly timbered gully west of the Bozeman Trail ridge. The Miniconjous took position in a bald ravine to the east. At 10:00 a.m., the wood train rolled out of Fort Kearny. An hour later, it came under attack.9


At 11:00 a.m., Captain Fetterman led forty-nine infantrymen out of the fort. On cue, the Indian decoys appeared. Everyone’s blood was up. A warrior yelled in English, “You sons of bitches come out and fight us!” Two well-armed civilians with personal grudges against the Lakotas rode with the soldiers. A captain who was about to transfer out also joined the detachment in order to have “one more chance to bring in the scalp of Red Cloud himself.” Carrington, meanwhile, told Lieutenant George W. Grummond, an alcoholic and impetuous member of the anti-Carrington clique, to take twenty-seven cavalrymen and “report to Captain Fetterman, implicitly obey orders, and never leave him.”
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The decoys rode leisurely over Lodge Trail Ridge, taunting the soldiers to make haste. Carrington had ordered Fetterman not to go beyond the ridge, and for a moment the troops paused atop the ridge, appearing from the fort like so many flyspecks on the horizon. Then they vanished down the far side of Lodge Trail Ridge, beyond which, four miles north of Fort Kearny, between fifteen hundred and two thousand warriors, most armed only with bows and arrows, lances, and war clubs, waited expectantly. What happened next is conjectural. Fetterman apparently tried to hold Grummond back, but the impulsive lieutenant spurred after the decoys, chasing them for a mile and a half until the ridge dropped away and the Bozeman Trail crossed Peno Creek. There hundreds of mounted warriors suddenly thundered out of the ravines, enveloping Grummond’s and Fetterman’s commands in a matter of minutes. Grummond led his cavalrymen back up the ridge in a doomed effort to rejoin Fetterman. Knowing the hopelessness of trying to outrun the Indians, the two civilian volunteers dismounted behind a rock outcrop and opened a stinging fire with their repeating rifles. They would die surrounded by scores of empty shell casings and several pools of blood. Fetterman’s infantrymen, meanwhile, struggled with their muzzle-loaders against the circling warriors. So great was the hail of arrows into the small blue cluster that the Indians were more at risk from friendly fire than from the soldiers’ bullets. A Cheyenne warrior who saw an arrow fly across the ridge and pierce a Lakota’s brain said there were so many arrows lying about that a man had no need to use his own but could simply pick up all he needed.


Resistance from the infantry might have been minimal; the young Oglala chief American Horse said that many soldiers appeared to be paralyzed with fear. It soon turned into the sort of close-order combat the Lakotas called “stirring gravy.” As infantrymen fell with arrow wounds, dismounted warriors descended upon them, first counting coup and then smashing their skulls with war clubs. American Horse landed Fetterman a disabling blow and then cut his throat, while the officer who had bragged about taking Red Cloud’s scalp shot himself in the temple.


The infantry and the cavalry fought and died apart. Grummond fell early, decapitating a warrior with his sword before a blow from a  war club dropped the lieutenant. The Indians said his troopers kept together, leading their horses up the ridge until they became too hard to handle. The sixteen-year-old Cheyenne warrior Fire Thunder, who was in his first fight, tried briefly to catch an animal, “but then I thought it was a good day to die and so I just went ahead fighting. I wasn’t after horses—I was after white men.” As the temperature fell and the hillsides grew icy, “we were told to crawl onto the soldiers,” Fire Thunder said. “When we got closer someone hollered: ‘Let’s go! This is a good day to die. At home our women are hungry.’ Then we all jumped up and went for them.”10


The Indians did a thorough job in the forty minutes of combat; no soldier survived. A relief party from the fort later counted eighty-one nude and mutilated corpses. “Some had the top of their skulls cut off and their brains taken out, others their arms cut out of their sockets,” said a member of the detail. Indeed, Fetterman’s men were pincushions for the Indians’ fury. One hundred sixty-five arrows protruded from a single body. “We walked on top of their internals and did not know it, in the high grass,” another man said. “[We] picked them up, that is, their internals, and did not know the soldiers they belonged to. So you see, the cavalryman got an infantryman’s guts, and an infantryman got a cavalryman’s guts.”


December 21 was the winter solstice, and darkness came at 4:00 p.m. In the gathering twilight, the relief party loaded all the corpses they could find and then brought them in, the post surgeon said, in the same fashion as “hogs brought to market.” Thirty-one dead remained frozen on the field. Over the objections of his officers, Carrington, who had no intention of letting the Indians think him too timid to recover his own dead, led a detachment out the next night to gather up the bodies overlooked by the relief party. There were no Indians left to impress, however. Satisfied that they had achieved a great victory in the battle of “a Hundred in the Hand,” the warriors returned to the Tongue River valley for the winter.11
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News of the Fetterman “massacre” staggered the nation and hugely embarrassed the army. Cooke removed Carrington, Grant removed Cooke, and Sherman fumed, telling Grant, “We must act with vindictive earnestness against the Sioux, even to their extermination, men,  women, and children.” He ordered the new Department of the Platte commander, Colonel Christopher C. Augur, to prepare a summer offensive.


But Sherman’s plans collided with a formidable peace offensive inspired by the findings of an investigative body gotten up by Congress in the aftermath of Sand Creek. Named after its chairman, Senator James R. Doolittle, the committee published its report in January 1867. After nearly two years of investigating, the Doolittle Committee concluded that disease, drink, intertribal warfare, the “aggressions of lawless whites,” and the “steady and resistless white emigration into their hunting lands” were endangering the very existence of the Plains tribes. After fustigating the dishonest agents and profiteering whiskey traders who preyed on friendly Indians, and the double-talking emissaries who confused and angered Indians of hostile or uncertain disposition, the committee went on to recommend that the tribes be moved far from the travel routes and white settlements and then consolidated on isolated reservations, where warriors could be made over into self-sufficient Christian farmers. Although hardly a novel concept, the Doolittle blueprint would drive federal Indian policy for the next fifteen years.


The western press railed against the “same wishy-washy namby-pamby course that is ever pursued by the government,” but Congress and the Interior Department sided with Doolittle. In February 1867, President Andrew Johnson signed legislation creating a commission to determine how to end the war with Red Cloud without recourse to force of arms. Sherman reluctantly put his plans on hold.


Like General Sherman, Red Cloud labored under heavy constraints. The allied tribes had been unable to decide on a target for the summer, and when Red Cloud failed to broker a consensus, the Indians split into two groups. In July 1867, between five hundred and eight hundred Cheyennes set out to attack Fort Smith, while Red Cloud led a thousand Lakotas to renew the battle against Fort Kearny.


Unbeknownst to the Indians, they faced a markedly stronger foe than they had in 1866. Colonel Augur had bolstered Forts Kearny and Smith with reinforcements, with new breech-loading rifles that boosted the soldiers’ rate of fire and confidence, and with new commanders. At Fort Smith, troop confidence was qualified, however; expressing the consensus view, the post surgeon said the new commander, Lieutenant Colonel Luther P. Bradley, was an “arbitrary self-important old bachelor  that no one liked; he knew nothing about fighting Indians.” Fort Kearny fared better. Its new commander was Lieutenant Colonel John E. Smith, a serious-minded soldier with a superb Civil War combat record whom the men esteemed. At long last, Fort Kearny had a fighting man in charge.12
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The Cheyennes drew first blood that summer. With the garrison having trebled (a development Indian scouts easily divined), an attack against Fort Smith was out of the question. Two and a half miles northeast of the fort, however, there was an exposed outpost in a hay field where contract workers had improvised a small corral in which to assemble if attacked. On the night of July 31, a friendly Crow warned the hay cutters that the next morning “the whole face of the earth will be covered with Indians.” Ignoring him, they went to work as usual. While they cut and bundled, the army detail of twenty-two soldiers passed the time playing cards and pitching horseshoes. At noon, a rifle crack from a lookout signaled trouble. As hundreds of mounted Cheyennes filed into the hay field, the soldiers and contractors withdrew into the log corral. Everyone took cover except the lieutenant, who cursed the men for cowards until an Indian sniper shot him through the temple. The teamster and former Union officer Al Colvin took charge. His orders were succinct and vivid. “Keep down and out of sight. Save your ammunition . . . and save the last shot for yourself.” The firepower of the soldiers’ new breech-loading rifled muskets and the civilians’ repeating rifles stunned the warriors. After two attacks failed, the Indians set fire to the hay and then advanced behind the sheet of flames, which receded twenty feet short of the corral. Firing blindly through the smoke, the defenders squeezed off enough shots to blunt the assault. The Indians made a final push from the south on foot. Anticipating their move, Colvin concentrated his forces and told the men to blast away at close range with their shotguns. Colvin personally killed a Lakota chief, who fell too near to the corral for warriors to retrieve his corpse. From high bluffs beyond the creek, the Indians wailed for their lost leader.


The fight raged for four hours. When the shooting started, Colonel Bradley had slammed the fort’s gates shut and forbidden anyone to go out. As the afternoon progressed, he had a change of heart and dispatched reinforcements. The rescuers brought along two cannon.  Indians dreaded these “medicine guns,” and they quit the field after the first shots.


At least twenty Indians died in the Hayfield Fight. The whites lost three killed and three wounded. To make the Indians think twice about attacking again, Bradley ordered the head of the Lakota chief Colvin had killed stuck to a pole outside the front gate of Fort Smith.13


Ninety miles down the Bozeman Trail, Red Cloud rode against Fort Phil Kearny as nominal leader of a loose assemblage of warriors stirred by the summer Sun Dance ceremony. Their target was Fort Kearny’s exposed outpost, the old pinery. There, an oblong corral of fourteen small, flimsy wagon boxes (standard army wagons with their running gear removed) of doubtful defensive value was the rallying point for the woodcutters and the infantry company guarding them. Repeating the ruse that had drawn out Fetterman, on the clear and hot morning of August 2 a decoy party scattered the occupants of the wood camps. The soldiers, however, refused to be lured into the open. Together with four civilians, the two officers and twenty-six enlisted men lay down inside the wagon boxes to fire through crudely bored holes or crouched behind barrels, bundles of clothing, or anything else that might stop a bullet. Captain James Powell gave just one order: “Men, here they come. Take your places and shoot to kill.” Nothing more was needed. The men understood their predicament. Veterans looped their shoelaces over one foot and their rifle trigger. Should the Indians overrun their defenses, the old soldiers would blow their own brains out.


From a hilltop a mile away, Red Cloud and the senior war leaders and elder chiefs watched the battle begin badly for the Indians. The army mule herd proved too tempting to resist, and two hundred warriors galloped onto the plateau prematurely to round it up. When the main party—perhaps under Crazy Horse—swept toward the corral from the southwest, they found the resistance stronger than expected. “After we had commenced firing, a great number of Indians rode within 150 yards and sitting on their ponies, waited for us to draw ramrods for reloading, as they supposed we were yet using the old muzzleloaders,” remembered a private. “Instead of drawing ramrods and losing precious time, we simply threw open the breechblocks of our new rifles to eject the empty shell and slapped in fresh ones. This puzzled the Indians, who withdrew out of range.” Red Cloud later called the soldiers’ breechloaders “much-talk guns.”


The Indians’ reluctance to press home the attack against the constant fire of the new rifles was in keeping with their aversion to heavy casualties, but it cost them the battle. Every defender who left an account agreed that the action would have been over in ten minutes had the Indians kept coming. Instead, the warriors circled the corral from a safe distance, yelling menacingly while hiding on the far side of their ponies and loosing arrows from under the animals’ necks. It was a fearsome but harmless spectacle, because most arrows flew wildly. But the soldiers’ aim was scarcely better. Fast-moving Indians were a hard target, and no one could see more than a few yards through the smoke. Besides, raising one’s head above the wagon boxes to shoot was a risky proposition. The deadliest fire came from Indian snipers, one of whom killed a lieutenant who stood up during the attack. When a soldier implored him to get down, the lieutenant barked, “I know how to fight Indians,” and then promptly collapsed with a bullet in the head.


The Indians made their second onrush on foot, darting serpentine toward the wagons and throwing themselves behind folds in the ground between rushes. It came no closer than the first. Leading a third assault, Red Cloud’s nephew fell in the first volley. Mounted warriors south of the corral kept a respectful distance until the attack broke up. They made a final, halfhearted approach and then left. Captain Powell had seven killed and four wounded. The Indians suffered roughly a dozen dead and thirty wounded. Some warriors claimed victory because they had made off with two hundred mules; the more honest preferred not to speak of the day.


Although the Hayfield and Wagon Box Fights boosted army morale, strategically they were meaningless. The army still lacked the means to take the offensive, and the Indians continued to raid the Bozeman Trail with impunity. Having experienced only tactical setbacks, costly though they were, Red Cloud and his fellow chiefs remained adamant that the Bozeman forts be abandoned or there would be no peace.14
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The commander of Fort Smith was quite willing to accommodate Red Cloud. “The only way that peace can be made with the Indians is giving up this country,” Colonel Bradley wrote to his fiancée on September 5, 1867. “It is the best hunting ground they have, and I do not see that we need it for ten or twenty years at least . . . So, for the sake of economy, if not for the sake of humanity, it were better to with-draw  even at the expense of our pride.” Lacking the forces necessary to occupy the Reconstruction South, guard the Union Pacific Railroad, and defend the Bozeman Trail simultaneously, the government also was willing to capitulate. No help could be expected from a Congress determined to retrench after the staggering cost of the Civil War. The arguments of peace advocates that it was cheaper, easier on the national conscience, and more effective to feed than to fight the Indians won broad support in both chambers. Rapid progress on the Union Pacific also made acceptance of Red Cloud’s terms palatable. By the spring of 1868, track had been laid to Ogden, Utah, permitting safe travel to the Montana goldfields. Grant ordered General Sherman to abandon the Bozeman Trail forts.15


In April, peace commissioners invited Red Cloud to Fort Laramie to sign a treaty. (Six months earlier, the commissioners had concluded a treaty with the Southern Plains tribes at Medicine Lodge Creek, securing safe passage for whites traveling west to Colorado.) Breathtaking in its scope, this second treaty signed at Fort Laramie (not to be confused with the 1851 Fort Laramie Treaty) constituted the government’s blueprint of the Lakota future. Laden with technical jargon, it confused even white officials, but it met Red Cloud’s demand. Not only would the government close the Bozeman Trail; it would also grant the Lakotas an immense expanse. Present-day South Dakota west of the Missouri River would become the Great Sioux Reservation, for the “absolute and undisturbed use and occupation” of the Lakotas. There the government would build schools and provide rations and annuities for thirty years; in exchange, the Indians were expected to become tillers of the soil—in other words, “civilized.” The proposed treaty also granted the Lakotas hunting rights above the North Platte River (roughly the northern half of Nebraska) and along the Republican River in northwestern Kansas “so long as the buffalo may range thereon in such numbers as to justify the chase.” Finally, the Fort Laramie Treaty of 1868 contained a vaguely worded clause designating the land north of the North Platte River from the western limit of the reservation to the Bighorn Mountains as Unceded Indian Territory. Although undefined, the northern boundary of the tract came to be understood, by the government at least, as the Yellowstone River. In its totality, the Unceded Indian Territory roughly encompassed present-day northeastern Wyoming and southeastern Montana. What little clarity the clause contained was found in the provision that no whites  would be permitted to settle in the Unceded Indian Territory without Indian permission. Whether Lakotas who wished to live off the hunt rather than the government dole might reside there was left unclear. In any case, the Lakota lands were to be inviolate; the peace permanent.


After burning Forts Kearny and Smith and laying in the winter supply of meat, Red Cloud arrived at Fort Laramie on November 4, leading a procession of 125 Lakota chiefs and headmen, ample proof of the high standing he enjoyed. And by governmental anointment, he was now head chief of the Lakotas. The distinguished members of the Peace Commission were gone, and it fell to the post commander to conclude matters with the Lakotas. He was no match for Red Cloud, who dominated the proceedings. Emphasizing that his people had no intention of becoming farmers, Red Cloud said he had come to Fort Laramie not because the Great Father’s representatives had summoned him but because he wanted ammunition with which to fight the Crows. Nonetheless, he would make peace. With great ceremony, Red Cloud washed his hands with dust from the floor, placed his mark on the treaty, shook hands all around, and then made a long speech. He might have trouble controlling his young warriors, but he promised to honor the treaty as long as the white man did.


Red Cloud left, however, without fully understanding its terms. He believed the Oglalas could settle permanently in the Unceded Indian Territory and continue to trade at Fort Laramie as they had for two decades. Nor did he know that the treaty nurtured the seed of dispossession. By accepting fixed boundaries, Red Cloud had effectively agreed to relinquish his freedom whenever the government saw fit.16


Red Cloud had won his war. Whether he would prevail in peace, only time would tell.










CHAPTER 3
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WARRIOR AND SOLDIER


AFTER RED CLOUD’S WAR, no sane army officer would have repeated Captain Fetterman’s boast that a company of regulars could whip a thousand Indians. From objects of scorn, warriors became enemies worthy of the highest respect. Officers compared their own second-rate soldiery with Indian combatants and came away amazed. Colonel Richard I. Dodge, who spent three decades studying Indians when not fighting them, concluded that they made “the finest soldiers in the world.”


The Indians had not suddenly become superb fighters when the whites appeared in the West; tribes had long battled one another over hunting grounds or horses. Indeed, fighting was a cultural imperative, and men owed their place in society to their prowess as warriors. Although each tribe had its unique customs or character—the impetuous Comanches, for instance, thought their Kiowa allies deliberated too much before acting, and the Cheyennes considered their Arapaho allies too accommodating—the patterns of tribal government and warfare among the Rocky Mountain and Plains tribes were strikingly similar. Fathers raised their sons to aspire to great martial deeds, and training for a warrior’s life began early. At age five or six, boys were made to run long distances and to swim streams and were regularly deprived of food, water, and sleep—all with a view to toughening their bodies. Between the ages of seven and ten, boys received their first bow and arrows and were taught to shoot first for distance and then for accuracy. By the time a boy reached adolescence, his riding skills were unparalleled; he was, to again quote Colonel Dodge, not only the finest soldier but also “the best rough rider and natural horseman in the world.”1




Boys participated in their first raiding party at age fourteen or fifteen in the role of mascot or menial. By age eighteen, a young man was expected to have counted coup, stolen a horse, and taken a scalp. At age twenty, he had perhaps shown enough ability to lead a small war or raiding party. By twenty-five, he might be a subchief. If he had been successful, he could expect to have won many war honors and stolen many horses and perhaps even have two lodges (tipis) with a wife and children in each. (Between six and eight people typically lived in a lodge.) In most tribes, a warrior’s career ended between the ages of thirty-five and forty, or after he had a son old enough to take his place. (If a man came into early middle age childless, he adopted a son from a fellow warrior who had more than one fighting-age son.) This system of forced early retirement ensured a fighting force that was young and vigorous. A retired warrior became a counselor to young warriors, a trainer of boys, or, if his career had been distinguished and his medicine powerful, a council chief or senior war leader (like Red Cloud) responsible for planning strategy and guiding large encounters. Although warriors often boasted of a desire to die in battle, a long life brought no shame. On the contrary, tribal elders imparted wisdom and restrained the young warriors when necessary, their services so valued that they were expected to keep out of harm’s way themselves except when the village was under attack.2


Warriors earned honors on a graded scale that varied only slightly from tribe to tribe. Counting coup, which meant touching an enemy, usually with a long and ornate rod called a coup stick, ranked first among war honors. In the absence of a coup stick, any handheld object would do; the less lethal the object, the greater the honor. Touching a live, armed enemy without trying to kill him rated higher than counting coup on a dead man. The number of coups that could be counted on a corpse varied, but the first coup carried the greatest weight. Warriors also counted coups on women, children, prisoners, and stolen horses. Lesser war honors included the capture of a shield or gun and the taking of a scalp, which served several purposes. Most important, a fresh scalp afforded a warrior incontrovertible proof that he had killed someone. If taken without friendly casualties, enemy scalps became objects of celebration in a boisterous village ceremony called the victory or scalp dance. Warriors adorned their war shirts and leggings with scalps or tied them to a pony’s bridle before battle.


Although scalps were most often taken off the dead, scalping in and  of itself was not intended to kill. Unless grievously wounded, victims often survived the ordeal, particularly if they were Indians. Indian men wore their hair long, which made taking the scalp of an enemy warrior relatively swift and simple. Grasping a tuft or braid in one hand, with the other a warrior made a two-or three-inch-wide cut around the base of the skull, usually with a butcher knife. A quick jerk tore away the skin and hair with a “report like a popgun.” White victims required more work, and warriors sometimes had to scalp the entire head to get enough hair to justify the effort. Indian scalps counted more than those of whites, whom most Indians considered inferior opponents. At the Fetterman Fight, warriors contemptuously tossed the scalps of soldiers on the ground beside their victims.


The mutilation of enemy dead was a common Plains Indian practice in which both sexes indulged. Westerners considered it conclusive proof that Indians were irredeemable savages; for their part, the Indians believed that disfiguring an enemy’s corpse protected the killer from the dead man’s spirit in the afterlife.


War honors were a requisite for admission into warrior societies, to which young warriors aspired, and competition between these fraternities of fighting men was spirited. Each sought to strike the first blow of the annual raiding season. The Lumpwood and Fox warrior societies of the Crows extended the competition to the domestic front, occasionally stealing one another’s wives from their own villages as if they were horses. (Surprisingly, no fatalities seem to have arisen from the practice.) Warrior societies did not necessarily fight as a unit, but when they did, the consequences could be catastrophic. A string of sharp reverses or a single shattering defeat might wipe out the entire group. In battle, society officers were expected to scorn danger and sometimes to court it, which meant opportunities for promotion were high.3


War honors were inextricably linked to sex. They were the surest way to win a girl’s heart, making them excellent motivators for young men to fight hard. A Crow man, for instance, could not marry until he had turned twenty-five or counted coup, and a married Crow male with no coup to his credit was denied the important privilege of “painting his woman’s face.” Among the Cheyennes, young men could not even court girls until they had demonstrated their courage in battle or on raids. Mothers grilled their daughters’ suitors on their war records and dismissed as a coward any man found wanting. Cheyenne women had a song for men who wavered in battle. “If you are afraid when you  charge,” the song went, “turn back. The Desert Women will eat you.” In other words, women would slander them so mercilessly that death became preferable. “It was hard to go into a fight, and [we] were often afraid,” confessed the Cheyenne warrior John Stands in Timber, “but it was worse to turn back and face the women.” Fear of ridicule notwithstanding, no warrior would risk battle without the protection of his sacred power, commonly translated as “medicine,” upon the strength of which his courage, competence, and very survival were believed to depend.


The search for medicine began in youth with a vision quest, also known as a medicine dream. Repairing to a lonesome and dangerous place, a vision seeker spent a prescribed period—normally four days and nights—without food or water, praying for a helper from nature or the bird or animal kingdom to visit him. Apparitions addressed the vision seeker in parables, which were interpreted by a spiritual adviser, usually a medicine man, for a fee, or through lifelong contemplation. A creature or element of nature revealed in a vision became a man’s medicine. In combat, a warrior emulated the ways of his helper (the swiftness of an eagle, the cunning of a fox) and carried in a small neck bag tokens reflective of his vision. He painted the vision symbolically on his shield, clothing, horse, and lodge and harnessed its power by means of a unique and sacred collection of items gathered in a large medicine bundle. Warriors unable to obtain medicine in vision quests sometimes sought spiritual power through self-torture. As a last recourse, a warrior could purchase medicine from a medicine man or share in the medicine of a friend or family member. Indians, however, considered medicine gotten from a third party to be relatively weak. Warriors flocked to men with proven medicine in the hope of sharing in its power or benefiting from the possessor’s divinely bestowed gifts.4


Warriors esteemed guns as their most cherished possessions and went to great lengths to get the latest repeating rifles, the legendary lever-action Winchester being a favorite. Few, however, could afford them. Most had to make do with old muzzle-loading muskets of doubtful utility or captured single-shot army rifles. Moreover, ammunition for any rifle was hard to come by. Improvident soldiers occasionally sold cartridges to Indians, only to have the bullets shot at them when hostilities erupted. With few exceptions, warriors lacked the requisite knowledge or tools to repair broken weapons, and it was difficult to find accommodating white gunsmiths.




Thus, many had to rely on the bow and arrow. Not that the traditional Indian weapon was a liability; army officers were astonished at the striking force of arrows, even when employed by a relative novice. One young lieutenant learned from his Indian scouts how to fire an arrow into a buffalo with such force that the tip came out the other side. “The power of the bow may be better understood,” he explained, “when I tell you that the most powerful Colt revolver will not send a ball through a buffalo.” When used by Indians trained with the bow from boyhood, the effect was even more astonishing. “I have seen a bow throw an arrow 500 yards,” added the lieutenant, and “once found a man’s skull transfixed to a tree by an arrow which had gone completely through the bones and imbedded itself so deep in the wood as to sustain the weight of the head.” Colonel Dodge, one of the army’s closest students of Indian arms and tactics, found the rate of fire of a bow and arrows remarkable. A warrior, observed the colonel, “will grasp five to ten arrows in his left hand and discharge them so rapidly that the last will be on its flight before the first has touched the ground.” Warriors normally carried twenty arrows in their quivers; they scrounged more on the battlefield when they ran out. War clubs and long, brightly painted lances rounded out a warrior’s offensive arsenal.


To defend themselves, warriors carried small buffalo-hide shields that Colonel Dodge judged “as impenetrable as iron and . . . almost perfect protection against the very best rifle.” Believing that the greatest protection came from shields infused with sacred power, a warrior painted his with sacred symbols and appended feathers and enemy scalps and prayed over it until its medicine was perfect. A shield of proven worth was highly esteemed, guarded closely, and passed from generation to generation.5


Whenever possible, warriors went into battle fortified by devotional exercises. Some fought in their best war dress, not because they believed the clothes would enhance their skills, explained a Cheyenne, but in order to look their best when going to meet the Great Spirit. Weather permitting, however, warriors typically fought only in their breechcloths; doing so enabled them to move faster and, the Indians believed, optimized the power of their medicine. Warriors painted themselves and their horses with sacred colors for protection or with symbols meant to advertise past exploits. The total effect of a painted warrior and horse terrified not only soldiers but also enemy warriors. Properly painted and blessed by his personal sacred ritual, a warrior  supposed himself safe from harm. On the other hand, a warrior caught spiritually unprepared for battle felt so vulnerable that he would often flee at the first opportunity. Medicine cut both ways.6


The Indians of the American West might have been among the best soldiers man for man in the world, but their tactics, developed over decades of intertribal warfare, were poorly suited to open combat against a disciplined regular army unit. Seen from a soldier’s perspective, Indian formations often appeared invincible. Masses of Indians surrounded their war leader, united in a ragged but formidable line that charged without apparent order and at a signal scattered like leaves before a storm, only to regroup and dash at army flanks until, said Colonel Dodge, “the plain is alive with flying, circling horsemen, each lying flat on his horse or hanging to the side to escape the shots of the pursuing enemy or rush upon the enemy in a living mass of a charging, yelling terror.”


The rush, however, nearly always came up short. Loath to drive home an attack unless certain of winning, Indians preferred to lay traps and bait the enemy with decoy warriors, a tactic that hardly ever worked (the Fetterman Fight being a rare exception). Not only was the ploy obvious to all but the most inexperienced foe, but aspiring warriors also commonly ruined the surprise by charging early in order to count first coup.


The Indians had a singular concept of battlefield victory. If many men won war honors, they counted as a triumph an encounter that the army might consider a tactical draw. Regardless of the outcome, if a war leader or great warrior died, a battle was reckoned a calamity, particularly if the medicine of the dead was thought to have been strong. The fall of one such man might suffice to break up an Indian attack or end a battle. Indians also feared artillery. A few cannon shots invariably dispersed them.


Esteemed though they were, war chiefs had only limited influence. They agreed among themselves in a general way on what they hoped to accomplish in battle. Each subchief then gathered his followers around him and outlined the plan, and things proceeded from there. Once the shooting started, war chiefs signaled their men in several ways, sometimes by holding a flag or a lance or a gun or a robe tilted in a particular direction, by using mirrors flashed from high ground, or with the shrill notes of an eagle-bone war whistle. Ordinarily, warriors heeded their advice, but obedience was discretionary in nearly every matter  except bringing off the dead and the wounded, an obligation that made army counts of Indian losses rough estimates at best. Warriors practiced long and hard at rescuing a fallen man while at a gallop. “To this drill,” Colonel Dodge observed, “is owed the fact that nearly every official report of a fight with Indians has a statement in effect as follows: ‘Indian casualties unknown; several were seen to fall from their horses.’”7


The army was apparently unaware that some warriors went into battle intending to die, be it to gain glory at any price or to end the pain of a terminal illness or personal tragedy. The Indians called them “suicide warriors.” Their preferred manner of passing was to repeatedly charge an enemy unarmed until killed. Although they contributed nothing positive to a fight, to die a suicide warrior was nonetheless considered highly honorable, and no one tried to stop a man bent on ending his life thusly. Fortunately for the war strength of the tribe, there were relatively few suicide warriors.


The suicide warrior was the extreme manifestation of the Indian axiom that in warfare and raiding a warrior remained an individual. He was always, in a sense, his own man. He answered to his supernatural helpers and conducted himself in accordance with their teaching. He developed a close allegiance to his warrior society and fought under its rules and obligations, which in the case of some societies included fighting to the death no matter what the odds. Standing above all this, however, was his responsibility to protect his people, whether from tribal enemies or the army. As the 1860’s drew to a close, soldiers seemed to most Indians the lesser of the two threats.8


[image: images]


Red Cloud’s War had revealed a regular army woefully unprepared for its Indian-fighting mission. The army’s problems, however, were of no interest to westerners, who expected General Sherman to punish the Indians whenever and wherever they caused trouble. If Sherman was not up to the job, argued the western press, then western volunteers should be recalled to federal service to do it for him. Perhaps, editors speculated, Sherman was at heart just another weak-willed appeaser.


The badgering got the better of Sherman. Smarting at the loss of the Bozeman Trail forts, in late 1868 he blasted his critics with an open challenge:




In the last two years I have done as much as any reasonable man could hope for, and if any man be incredulous, let him enlist, and he will soon find out if he don’t earn his pay. It is a physical impossibility for the small army [that] Congress maintains, to guard the exposed settlements any more than we can catch all the pickpockets in our cities. Clamor on the subject against me is simply folly. We do our duty according to our means.


Those means not only were sorely limited but also were fast shrinking. Even as the Indian Wars intensified, Congress—intent on paying down the massive national debt incurred during the Civil War—repeatedly reduced the rolls of the regular army. From an authorized strength of fifty-four thousand men in 1869, the army would plummet to just twenty-five thousand by 1874. Reconstruction duties siphoned off a third of the army and sucked the institution into partisan politics. As Southern states were readmitted to the Union, their representatives made common cause with the budget balancers in order to emasculate their blue-coated former oppressors, and the frontier army became a skeleton force.


Declining numbers were not the army’s only problem. Gone were the sober and purposeful volunteers who had restored the Union. In their place was a decidedly inferior brand of soldier. Not all were “bummers and loafers,” as the New York Sun alleged. There were also a disproportionately large number of urban poor, criminals, drunkards, and perverts. Few soldiers were well educated, and many were illiterate. Unskilled laborers in search of a steady job flocked to recruiting depots, usually to desert when better-paying work became available. One-third of the frontier army consisted of recent immigrants, mostly German and Irish, some of whom had seen service in European armies and proved an asset, and sprinkled among the American undesirables were good men who had fallen on hard times. Nevertheless, as one general observed, while the army had a greatly improved rifle, “I rather think we have a much less intelligent soldier to use it.”9


Incentives to enlist were few. By the 1870s, regulars earned just ten dollars a month, three dollars less than had Civil War volunteers a decade earlier. Promotion to the noncommissioned ranks offered a modest increase in salary and, after thirty years, a small pension, but only 1 percent of enlisted men stayed the course. Surprisingly, in view of the army’s need for quality recruits, after the Civil War the minimum  age for enlistees was raised from eighteen to twenty-one, a requirement that was strictly enforced.


A new recruit received his initiation to army life at one of four large recruiting depots, where he was given a cursory physical examination, an ill-fitting uniform, poor food, and no training. Until assigned to a regiment, recruits bided their time in menial labor. Any relief a recruit might have felt at leaving the recruiting depot for service in the West usually ended the moment he saw his duty station, which more often than not was an isolated, barely habitable wreck, such as Fort Garland, Colorado, which a visiting journalist found to consist of a mere handful of flat-roofed and squat redbrick and adobe buildings, “altogether dispiriting in their unmitigated ugliness.” Things weren’t much better in Texas. When a regular cavalry regiment reoccupied Fort Duncan after the Civil War, the barracks were overrun with bats. The troopers drove out the creatures with their sabers, but the “nauseating odor” of guano lingered for months.10


General Sherman knew that most of his soldiers lived in squalor. His 1866 inspection report of the posts in the Military Division of the Missouri read like marginalia in a tenement owner’s ledger. The general found Fort Laramie, Wyoming, to be “a mixture of all sorts of houses of every conceivable pattern and promiscuously scattered about, the two principal buildings so damaged and so rickety that on a windy night the soldiers sleep on the parade [ground].” Of Fort Sedgwick, Colorado, a post first built of sod, Sherman conjectured, “Surely, had the Southern planters put their Negros in such hovels, a sample would have been exhibited as illustrative of the cruelty and inhumanity of the man-masters.” There was little, however, that Sherman could do to relieve the meanness of the frontier soldier’s surroundings. The army budget was simply too small and the number of posts too great to make any but rudimentary improvements.11


Once he was settled into his quarters, a soldier’s life assumed a numbing routine. Bugle calls regulated the day’s activities, few of which had much to do with soldiering. The men built telegraph lines and roads, cleared lands, erected and repaired the buildings on post, cut wood, and burned brush—everything, grumbled an officer, “except what they are supposed to have enlisted to perform.” With funding tight, only a fortunate few received more than a handful of rounds annually for training. Not until the early 1880s did the army encourage target practice, and replacements routinely took the field having never fired  a rifle or ridden a horse. In combat, the consequence could be downright embarrassing. In his first Indian fight, a new lieutenant winced at his men’s atrocious marksmanship as they fired several hundred mercy shots at a severely wounded horse less than one hundred yards away without hitting it.


Not only were soldiers poorly trained, but they were also poorly uniformed. Clad in woolen navy-blue blouses and sky-blue trousers, the troops roasted in the summer and, because their overcoats were too thin, froze in the winter. Footwear was so crude that the right shoe could hardly be distinguished from the left. Regulation hats fell to pieces quickly, forcing many soldiers to buy civilian headwear out of their meager salaries. Shirts were blue, gray, or checked as suited the wearer. Cavalrymen wore loose handkerchiefs knotted under the neck. Most either padded the seats of their trousers with canvas or donned canvas pants or corduroy breeches for greater comfort, and some wore Indian moccasins instead of regulation boots. A visiting English war correspondent thought the casually dressed frontier soldiers bore “a suspicious resemblance to banditti.”12


Until 1874, the army employed a hodgepodge of weapons. The ponderous Civil War–era muzzle-loading Springfield rifled musket remained the standard infantry weapon just long enough to ensure the rapid slaughter of Captain Fetterman’s command. By the end of 1867, most infantrymen carried Springfields altered to fire a metallic cartridge loaded at the breech; these were the weapons that so stunned the Lakotas at the Wagon Box and Hayfield Fights. In 1873, the army settled on the .45-caliber Springfield as the standard infantry weapon and replaced the cap-and-ball Colt and Remington revolvers popular during the Civil War with the Colt .45 single-action revolver (the famed “Peacemaker”). Cavalry regiments were armed with revolvers and either the single-shot Sharps carbine or the seven-shot Spencer. They were also issued sabers, which were seldom carried on campaign, because officers realized that before a trooper could get close enough to an Indian to use a saber, he would be bristling with arrows. Soldiers groused about not being well armed, but few were good enough marksmen to do justice to the weapons they were issued.


Endless isolation and mind-numbing manual labor caused enlisted men to sink into “a plodding, sullen sort of existence.” Good food might have helped morale, but army rations were as monotonous as a soldier’s day, the mainstays of the garrison menus being hash, baked  beans, a watery meat stew called slumgullion, coarse bread, and stringy beef from range cattle. Soldiers supplemented their diets with produce grown in post and company gardens. In the field, troops subsisted largely on bacon and surplus Civil War hardtack (biscuits).


All but the most righteous soldiers sooner or later succumbed to one or more of the three moral scourges of the military frontier: drinking, whoring, and gambling. Until 1877, when President Rutherford B. Hayes yielded to abstinence advocates and forbade the sale of alcohol on military posts, soldiers could buy liquor from the post trader, whose licensed establishment served as general store, bar, and social club, where at least a modicum of control could be exercised over the men. But as soon as prohibition took effect on posts, soldiers switched their patronage to “hog ranches,” seedy off-post establishments that offered up rotgut whiskey and cheap prostitutes. Soldiers in need of sex also frequented the lodges of promiscuous Indian women or patronized the quarters of authorized camp laundresses, who sometimes supplemented their legitimate earnings with prostitution. The consequences were predictable. A future general said venereal disease was so pervasive at frontier posts that “it was a common saying that post surgeons had nothing to do but confine laundresses and treat the clap.”13


Noncommissioned officers (NCOs), whose duty it was to keep the men in line, instead frequently facilitated vice. The story was told of a cavalry first sergeant who superintended an orgy for his troops at a hog ranch. In order that they might more easily service his troopers, the sergeant had the prostitutes strip nude and then posture themselves atop a round table at which the men were drinking. At Camp Grant, Arizona, the sergeants ran an illegal gambling racket, profiting handsomely as bankers at payday barracks poker games. For all their shortcomings, however, NCOs were the backbone of the frontier army. More often than not, company commanders gave their first sergeants a free hand. Good NCOs were a godsend to officers, and the tough but paternalistic Irish or German first sergeant became a stereotype in his own time. On the other hand, if left unsupervised, a bad NCO could wreak havoc on a company. Brutal sergeants inflicted punishments forbidden by regulation. It was not uncommon at frontier posts to see soldiers staked to the ground under the burning sun, bound spread-eagle to wagon wheels, or suspended from trees by their thumbs. Disgusted at the rampant sadism, one department commander admonished officers to rein in tyrannical NCOs, who “will cause more discontent  and trouble in a company than the best company commanders can allay.”


For a general to find it necessary to lecture lieutenants and captains on their basic duties would be unthinkable in today’s army or, for that matter, during most of the history of the U.S. Army. But the frontier officer was a special breed. Talent there was; many fine generals of the early twentieth century began their careers as junior officers in the West. But even the most dedicated officer found it hard to keep motivated among the rogues’ gallery of bickering, backbiting mediocrities, drunks, and martinets in epaulets that plagued the army. At its best, the officer corps was a fractious lot, with generals and colonels nourishing grudges against one another born of perceived or real slights during the Civil War and lower-ranking officers squaring off according to age and experience.14


For former Civil War officers of all ranks, the transition to the small postwar army was hard. Regular army officers had held commands during the war based on their volunteer rank or brevet (honorary commissions nominally bestowed for exceptional service), rather than their substantially lower regular army grade. After the war, they tumbled in rank. George Armstrong Custer, for instance, fell from a major general of volunteers to a regular army captain on staff duty until his mentor Major General Philip H. Sheridan arranged his promotion to lieutenant colonel in the newly formed Seventh Cavalry. In the closing months of the war, George Crook had been a major general of volunteers commanding an eight-thousand-man army corps. Afterward, he reverted to lieutenant colonel in a frontier regiment that barely mustered five hundred men. To salve their wounded pride, officers wore the rank of their highest brevet grade and were addressed in official correspondence by their volunteer rank until Congress prohibited both practices in 1870.


Those demoted faced a long road back. An officer’s time in grade grew as the size of the army shrank, so that a new second lieutenant could expect to serve twenty-five years before making major and, if he lasted that long, thirty-seven years before reaching the rank of colonel. In 1877, the Army and Navy Journal predicted that within a decade “there will not be one-fourth part of the present field officers in the Army physically capable of supporting the hardships of an active campaign. They will be worn-out old men.”15
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